ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2011-203569

RECEIVED
JUN 14 2013
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMAAL HINSON,

APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1987
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

---	----

APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did The Trial Court Err By Dismissing A Juror When It Is Uncontested The Juror Did Not Intentionally Conceal His Limited Knowledge Of The General Identity Of An After-The Fact Witness, And Even If The Juror Had Intentionally Failed To Reveal The Knowledge It Was Of Such Limited Value It Would Not Have Supported A Challenge For Cause Nor Been A Material Factor In The Use Of The State's Peremptory Challenges?
2. Did The Trial Court Err By Refusing To Charge The Elements Of Involuntary Manslaughter To The Jury When Evidence Exists That The Appellant Lawfully Armed Himself In Self-defense In The Event Deadly Force Was Necessary And That He Did Not Intentionally Fire The Single Shot?

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Jamaal Hinson, was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury on April 14, 2010 for murder involving the January 16, 2010 death of Anthony Salley. State v. Jamaal Hinson, 2010-GS-40-829. ROA 760-61. Following his indictment, Appellant was tried before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin and a jury on November 14, through November 18, 2010 in Richland County. At trial, Appellant was represented by Eleanor D. Cleary, while the State was represented by K. Luck Campbell and Nicole M. Simpson. (R. p. 1).

At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant of murder. On November 18, 2010, Judge Benjamin sentenced Appellant to 40 years on the murder charge. (R. p. 756); (R. p. 759).

The Appellant timely served the notice of appeal on November 22, 2011. This appeal follows.

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the morning of January 16, 2010, Jamaal Hinson, the Appellant, left Lauren Banks' house in the Vineyard Crossing subdivision of Blythewood, South Carolina to complete a series of marijuana transactions. (R. p. 575). While leaving Vineyard Crossing, Hinson saw Richard Thomas and Anthony Salley [the victim of the murder] outside of Mr. Salley's own home, two houses down from Ms. Banks' house. (R. pp. 445-46, 576). Hinson and Mr. Thomas were enemies with a contentious history and "(didn't) like each other at all." (R. pp. 571, 620). Appellant beat Mr. Thomas with a pistol after an altercation at the AM-PM gas station in the Fall of 2009. (R. pp. 572-74). Hinson's testimony acknowledged tension with Mr. Salley, but claimed he did not know him well and the two never fought. (R. pp. 508, 620). Nevertheless, Lauren Banks' statement to police indicated that Hinson referred to Mr. Salley as a "pussy," stated he did not like Mr. Salley, and that he'd beaten Mr. Salley up before. (R. p. 620). Upon seeing each other on January 16, 2010, Appellant and Mr. Thomas exchanged threats. (R. p. 571). Afterwards, Appellant left Vineyard Crossing to complete his marijuana sales. (R. pp. 575-76).

Later that day, Hinson encountered his friend Devan Bailey at a gas station. Bailey was with Derrick Diamond and Quinton Emerson, who was driving the trio around in a silver/gray pickup truck. (R. p. 413). Bailey asked if Appellant could provide him with any marijuana. (R. pp. 575-76). Appellant indicated he could but first required a ride to his house. (R. pp. 577, 623). Appellant wanted to stop at his house first so he could obtain a gun. (R. p. 577). After Appellant retrieved his gun from his house, Bailey, Emerson and Diamond took Appellant back to Lauren Banks' house in Vineyard Crossing. (R. pp. 625-26).

After dropping Appellant off at Lauren's house, Bailey called Appellant asking for a cigar. (R. p. 578). Though either Emerson or Diamond could have legally purchased a cigar (R. pp. 134, 168-69, Tr. pp. 912), Appellant testified that he told Bailey to return to Lauren Banks' house for a cigar because he was uncomfortable allowing Bailey to obtain one illegally. (R. p. 578). Upon their return, Bailey instructed the driver, Emerson, to stop in front of Anthony Salley's house two doors down from where they dropped Appellant off previously. (R. p. 418). At the time, Anthony Salley was sitting with Andina Lee in his car in the driveway. (R. p. 97). Andina Lee testified that the truck blocked the driveway when it was parked behind them. (R. p. 97). Bailey got out of the truck and called Appellant to tell him he was outside. (R. pp. 146, 179-81, 578, 629). Salley got out of his car and spoke to Bailey. (R. pp. 179-81). Appellant then emerged from Lauren Banks' house and saw Salley and Bailey talking. (R. p. 630). Salley was not making any gestures or raising up his fists, and Appellant could not hear what he was saying. (R. p. 632). Appellant advanced toward the area where Salley and Bailey were talking, while armed with his gun. (R. pp. 579, 631).

As Appellant was approaching the area, Appellant claimed that Salley saw Appellant and went toward him. (R. pp. 579, 633). Appellant did not know Salley to carry a gun, and saw nothing that day to indicate otherwise. (R. pp. 572, 633). Nevertheless, when Appellant was within arms' length of Salley, Hinson pulled out his gun and aimed it at Salley, according to Hinson's testimony.¹ (R. p. 633). The State's evidence contradicted this account.

¹Hinson testified that he pulled the gun out to scare him away. R. p. 633-634. He stated that he felt that Salley was a threat to him when he was approaching Devan Bailey, because when Salley saw him he started to take off his jacket and ran towards him. R. p. 633, l. 13-18. Appellant admitted that before the victim ever laid a hand on him that Appellant had already pulled his gun out. R. p. 634. In his testimony, Appellant claimed that the victim had "walked up to the pistol and said if you are going to shoot me, shoot me." R.p. 634, l. 17-23. He claimed that the victim punched him and then he stumbled and that he was hit again. He claimed that at that point he dropped the pistol and then began fighting with the victim. R.p. 638, l. 17- 708, l. 14. He declared that he got the best of the

Andina Lee testified that as Appellant approached the scene, he said “Yes, you bitch ass n-----r. This is exactly what I want.” (R. pp. 99-100). Andina testified that she saw Hinson walk toward Salley, pull the gun out, and point it directly at Salley. R. p. 100, l. 6-11. Quinton Emerson testified that when Appellant was face-to-face with Salley he “racked the gun” to demonstrate that it was ready to fire and pointed it at Salley’s head. (R. pp. 181, 183). Eventually, Salley hit Appellant, knocking the gun from his hand. R.p. 100, l. 18-19. See R. pp. 635-38. Appellant and Salley commenced to fighting. (R. p. 100,183).² While they were fighting neither had a weapon. R.p. 101. After forcing Salley to the ground, Appellant punched Salley in the head, face, and chest until Salley no longer fought back. (R. pp. 638-39). Derrick Diamond testified that during the fight, Appellant told Bailey to “Bust him!” (meaning shoot Salley with the gun). (R. p. 148).

After Appellant won the fight, Appellant claimed he stood up and he saw Andina Lee toss the gun to the ground. (R. p. 581, 639). Appellant claimed he went over, picked up the gun,

victim and finished fighting. When he got up from the fight that he saw the victim’s girlfriend Andina had the pistol in her hand. R.p. 639, l. 15-16. At that point, he saw her throw it down. R.p. 639, l. 17-25. He dined in his testimony that he told Devan Bailey to “bust him.” R.p. 640, l. 6-14. According to Hinson, when Andina threw the gun down on the ground, the victim was on the ground from the fight. R.p. 640-41. Hinson stated that he saw Devan run off when Hinson picked up the gun off the ground. Hinson stated that he picked up the pistol to put it in his waistband and he turned around and pointed it at the victim, saw the victim fall and knew that he shot him and then ran. R.p. 642-43. He stated that he was scared so he ran. R.p. 643, l. 17. He claimed that he threw the gun away as he was running through the neighborhood. R.p. 644. He stated that he threw the gun away because he could have gone to jail that day and would have gotten a pistol charge also. R.p. 644.

²Andina Lee testified that while they were fighting another male got out of a car and came over and started Salley to make him get on the ground. R.p. 101. She stated that at that point Andina picked up the gun from the ground and told them they needed to stop fighting. She said she pointed the gun at the guy who came to Hinson’s aid who then came toward her and that she then threw the gun back down to the ground because she was afraid of him. R.p. 101-105. She stated that she was afraid and feared someone trying to take the gun from her hand. She stated that the fight had stopped on its own. R.p. 104-105. She stated that she and Salley then tried to go to the house. However, Hinson picked up the gun while she was trying to get Salley off the ground and shot Salley. R.p. 105-106. She stated that Salley was defenseless without a weapon and Hinson was within a few steps when he shot him. R.p. 106 -108. Lee stated that Hinson pointed the gun at Salley’s stomach. R.p. 108-109. She described the fact that Anthony Salley fell and grabbed his stomach after he was shot. R.p. 109-110.

turned, and fired the gun, hitting Anthony Salley. (R. pp. 582-83). Andina Lee testified that she was helping Salley get up from the ground in order to retreat into the house, and Appellant pointed the gun and shot Salley. (R. pp. 105, 109). Salley died that afternoon from a single gunshot wound to his abdomen. (R. pp. 367-78).

After shooting Salley, Appellant ran to Jerrod Crudup's house where Demario Evans was parked. (R. pp. 584-85).³ Appellant asked Mr. Evans to drive him away from Vineyard Crossing. (R. pp. 205, 585). Later that day, Appellant met with Devan Bailey to "get their story straight." (R. p. 649). Appellant eventually fled to Atlanta, where he was later apprehended and brought back to South Carolina for trial. (R. pp. 647-48, 653).

³The gun was not recovered.

ARGUMENT

I. Trial Court Did Not Commit Reversible Error By Dismissing A Juror, Even Though Juror Did Not Intentionally Conceal His Knowledge Of The Identity Of One Of The Witnesses and the Fact that He Played Basketball With Him and Possibly Other Witnesses, Where The Juror's Removal Did Not Prejudice Appellant At Trial Because The Removed Juror Was Replaced By An Alternate, And The Removal Occurred Prior to Deliberations Based Upon An Abundance of Caution and Concern .

It has been stated that a criminal defendant does not have a right to be tried by a particular juror, but only to have fair and impartial jurors decide his fate. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 113, 631 S.E.2d 244, 248 (2006). See State v. Simmons, 599 S.E.2d 448 (2004) (trial court did not abuse its discretion by dismissing a juror after a murder trial had begun, where juror admitted that he had unauthorized contact with his wife about the personal effect of a guilty verdict would have on them, and the trial judge had admonished the jury not to discuss the case with anyone). This case evidences the discretion that should be used by trial judges to insure a fair trial when a juror indicates that he has knowledge of a witness from personal contact with that witness in playing basketball and had initially indicated to the court that he identified other witnesses. This removal and replacement with a selected fair and impartial alternate was reasonably appropriate where that newly disclosed information would have led to a peremptory challenge by the State due to a connection between that witness and other witnesses and that the court was concerned that future witnesses in the case might develop a similar disclosure by the juror based upon his comments to the court.

Appellant is not entitled to a new trial because he has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced by the trial court's removal of Juror 226. State court precedent, doctrinal structure and prudential considerations all require that the "abuse of discretion" language be read to

mandate independent findings of both legal error and prejudice to reverse a trial court's decision to dismiss a juror. Juror 226's dismissal did not prejudice Appellant, and Appellant's brief fails to make any assertion to the contrary. Therefore, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

HOW THE ISSUE WAS RAISED BELOW

On November 14, 2011, the trial court conducted voir dire in Appellant's trial for murder. Judge Benjamin read the names of every anticipated witness, **including the name "Jarrod Crudup,"** and asked that each witness present stand upon hearing their name called. (R. pp. 23, 25). After reading the names, the judge asked:

Q. "[I]s there anyone related by blood or marriage or has a close personal or social relationship with any of the witnesses that I have called?" (R. p. 27)

Q. "Does any member of the jury panel know of any reason whatsoever why he or she should not serve as a juror in this case with particular emphasis being placed on your ability to be fair and impartial to both the State and the Defendant? If so please stand." (R. p. 31).

Juror 226 [Guy Rodgers, a single male employed by Richland School District One as a painter] did not respond to either question. He was ultimately placed on the jury. (R. p. 49, ll. 1-12).

The Testimony of Jarrod Crudup

On November 15, 2011, the second day of the trial, the State called Jarrod Crudup to testify about Appellant's departure from the Vineyards Crossing neighborhood after shooting Anthony Salley. (R. pp. 199-212). Crudup recounted the afternoon of January 16, 2010, when he was hanging out with his sister, his niece, and his friend, Demario Evans.⁴ (R. p. 202). Devan Bailey and Appellant came to his house around 2:30. (R. p. 203). Crudup knew Bailey from school and playing football together (R. p. 203) and knew of Appellant through friends. (R. pp.

⁴Demario Evans was one of Appellants chauffeurs (meaning he would drive Appellant around in exchange for marijuana and gas money). (R. p. 584).

201, 204). Appellant told Crudup that he and Bailey had been in a fight and asked Evans for a ride. (R. pp. 203, 205). Crudup later identified Appellant and Devan Bailey in photo lineups as the individuals who had come to his house that day (R. pp. 208-11) and identified Appellant again at trial. (R. p. 211).

Juror 226 Requests To Speak to the Court

Early on the third day of trial, November 16, 2011, Judge Benjamin stated that “Juror 226 wants to talk to me. I have no idea why...,” and stepped out of the courtroom with her law clerk to inquire into the matter. (R. pp. 322-23). Judge Benjamin returned and reported that Juror 226 had not recognized the names of some of the witnesses because he doesn’t know them, but recognized them from playing basketball in the area where he works. (R. p. 323).

The Trial Court’s Inquiry of Juror 226

After she made this announcement, the judge asked Juror 226 if her summary reflected what he had told her in the hallway, and he responded “yes, ma’am.” (R. p. 323, II. 18-20).

Thereafter, Judge Benjamin and the juror had the following exchange in the presence of counsel:

The Court: And the fact that you have seen some of the people before, you don’t know their name, but you have seen them at the gym, would that affect your ability to be fair and impartial in this trial?

Juror 226: No, ma’am.

(R. p. 323, 1. 21 - p. 361, 1. 1).

The Senior Assistant Solicitor Campbell then inquired “which witnesses?”, and the trial judge then inquired :

The Court: Which witnesses?

Juror 226: The one with the - -

The Court: He doesn't know their names.

Juror 226: The one with the dreads.

The Court: Any of the other ones? Anybody else?

Juror 226: No. That's the only one I know, the one that came up. I played with him not too long ago at the gym.

The Court: Okay. All right. And the fact that you played with him at the gym, does that affect your ability to be fair and impartial?

Juror 226: No. I don't even know him.

(R. p. 324, 11. 2-18) (emphases added).

Prosecution Requests to Remove Juror 226.

The State asked that Juror 226 be removed. (R. p. 328). Particularly, the prosecution stated:

Solicitor Campbell: Your Honor, we do have a concern. And I understand he didn't mean to do that or anything, but that would have been one of the witnesses that is friends with the Defendant. Apparently, he has some type of at least social - - or some type of communication with him playing basketball. It is not his fault or anything like that, but we would be concerned that he does have affiliation with the Defendant in this case or someone closely affiliated with the Defendant, and that would be a grave concern to us.

(R. p. 324, 1. 23 - p. 362, 1. 8).⁵

Essentially, the State argued that Jarrod Crudup was closely connected with friends of the

⁵In his brief before this Court, the Appellant claims that the State misrepresented the juror's statements - asserting that he never indicated even communicating with Mr. Crudup, much less a social relationship with him. *Initial Brief of Appellant*, p. 12. The statements by the prosecution - read in context speak for themselves as to the reference of connection with Crudup playing basketball with the juror. The fact is that the prosecution identified witness Crudup as the witness with "the dreads" and it was never contested in the trial court. R. p. 325, ll. 10-14. See R.p. 324, ll. 9-14. In fact, counsel Cleary interpreted the identification similarly. R.p. 325, ll. 20-21. Counsel Cleary however did assert that there was no indication that he even had a conversation with him, "other than playing basketball." R.p. 325, l. 23- p. 326, l. 2.

Appellant,⁵ and Juror 226 had at least “some type of communication with [Crudup] playing basketball.” (R. pp. 325, 326, 330). The State went on to assert that had they known about Juror 226’s connection to Jarrod Crudup, the matter would have been a consideration in their use of strikes. (R. p. 327). Particularly, the prosecutor stated:

It is of grave concern to the State, and we just feel like had we had this information - - and we’re not blaming the juror - - of course it would have been a consideration of use of strikes, and it would have been a neutral reason for us to strike him.

R. p. 326, l. 13-17.

It was pointed out that Demario Evans, Crudup’s friend, was also a potential witness in the case.⁶ The prosecution stated that Evans was eluding the State at that point. R.p. 327, l. 14-19. The prosecution stated that the evidence already in the record was that Demario was at his house at the time of the crime and helped Appellant escape. R.p. 327, l. 20-24.

Counsel Cleary responded asserting that the juror said that he does not know the people. He had seen them before and played basketball with them but did not know their names. She further asserted that it was not central to any issue in the trial and did not know what relevance it would have. Particularly, she pointed out that the juror could not be struck for cause because he played basketball with somebody.” R.p. 328, l. 11-12. However, Judge Benjamin pointed out that “if she (Campbell) had known it she said she would have struck him.” R.p. 328, l. 13-14.

Assistant Solicitor Campbell pointed out that their concern was that they had kept out the gang issue and that her client was a member of the Folk Nation and PAN organization within

⁵ The prosecution stated that Crudup was best friends with Demario Evans and that he was closely affiliated with Hinson. R.p. 326, l. 9-12.

⁶ Evans did not end up testifying at the trial. The prosecution presented testimony that he could not be located. R.p. 463-464.

that gang. She opined that this affiliation would be a concern. She noted that she did not know whether it would work for her or against her, but “in fairness to everyone,” she asked that the juror be removed and replaced with an alternate. R.p. 328, l. 15-23. She also stated that Appellant had self-proclaimed himself to be a member of the Gangster Disciples, which was coming up in the next witness. R.p. 329.

The Trial Judge’s Decision To Remove The Juror.

Judge Benjamin at that time took a break to consider the matter. Upon her return, she indicated that she would dismiss the juror:

In an abundance of caution, because I don’t know who you all are going to call next , and I just don’t want him standing up again saying oh, I know that person too. He said he believed - - initially he said he knew some of the witnesses, but when he came in he said he knew one of the witnesses. And he said that a lot of them come and – he said a lot of the guys come up there and play and they play on a team or something together, so I guess in an abundance of caution I will take him off. And considering that we only have one alternate left, I will make that alternate the permanent juror.

R.p. 328, l. 6-18.

The defense objected, arguing there was no evidence Juror 226 could not be fair and impartial, and Appellant was entitled to a fair and impartial jury. (R. p. 330).

The prosecution reiterated that the dismissed juror had initially indicated that he knew witnesses and that the defense had acknowledged that she had allowed an earlier juror to be excused because that juror knew more than one witness. R. p. 330, l. 16-22, citing R. p. 330, l. 3-6.⁷ The prosecutor also noted that in addition, it would be the defendant’s friends that he knew.

⁷ Counsel Cleary stated that she had agreed to the dismissal of the first juror because it was early in the process and the juror “seemed to know more than one witness and something about these people.” R.p. 330, l. 3-6. The record reflects that juror 180 was dismissed after he had spoken with the court and advise her that he had not realized that he knew the Appellant until he saw him and that the other witnesses he did not realize their names because they go by nicknames, but apparently that they all live in the same neighborhood. R.p. 55. The trial judge replaced the juror with an alternate. Id.

Judge Benjamin called the juror back into the courtroom. At that point, she dismissed the juror with the following colloquy:

Court: . . .because you know the witnesses and our concern - - my concern is that some of these other witnesses may be people that you know through playing at the - - basketball at the gym.

Juror : Yes, ma'am.

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