STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2011-203569

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMAAL HINSON,

APPELLANT

RECEIVED

APR 02 2013

SC Court of Appeals

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1987
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

268 S.E.2d at 586.

The goal of the corrective measures is to insure the defendant's right to a fair trial has not been compromised. State v. Stone, 290 S.C. 380, 382, 350 S.E.2d 517, 518 (1986). Cautionary instructions or substitution of alternate jurors may cure the prejudice caused by the publicity. United States v. Hankish, 502 F.2d 71 (4th Cir.1974). The determination of what curative measures are appropriate in a given case rests in the sound discretion of the trial judge. He should exhaust other methods to cure the prejudice before aborting a trial. *Id.* at 77.

ANALYSIS

Appellant attempts to rely on State v. Stone to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion by removing Juror 226, and such abuse of discretion requires reversal. (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 15-18). However, this reliance is misplaced. The Stone decision simply recognized a legal error without finding that the error prejudiced the defendant, and went on to reverse the trial court on separate grounds. State v. Stone, 350 S.C. 442, 567 S.E.2d 244 (2002).

In State v. Stone, the Court determined that the trial judge had abused its discretion in removing a juror.⁹ In particular, at sentencing, the state called the defendant's aunt as a witness.

⁹ In Stone, the Court relied upon State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587-88, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001), wherein the Court had stated:

When a juror conceals information inquired into during voir dire, a new trial is required only when the court finds the juror intentionally concealed the information, and that the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges. Thompson v. O'Rourke, 288 S.C. 13, 15, 339 S.E.2d 505, 506 (1986). Where a juror, without justification, fails to disclose a relationship, it may be inferred, nothing to the contrary appearing, that the juror is not impartial. On the other hand, where the failure to disclose is innocent, no such inference may be drawn. State v. Savage, 306 S.C. 5, 409 S.E.2d 809 (Ct.App.1991).

When she was placed on the witness stand, Juror Thompson indicated to the court that she knew the aunt. Although the aunt had been announced as a witness at the start of voir dire, Thompson later claimed did not know her name. Thompson had lived down the street from the aunt five or six years earlier, and they were casual acquaintances only. Thompson indicated her acquaintance would not affect her ability to be fair and impartial. The Supreme Court concluded that it is patent here that Juror Thompson's failure to disclose her acquaintance with Perry [during the opening voir dire] was innocent. Moreover, the Court concluded that "her scant acquaintance would neither have supported a challenge for cause nor would it have been a material factor in the state's exercise of its peremptory challenges. Thompson clearly indicated her former acquaintance with a witness whose name she did not even know, would not have affected her in any way." Stone, supra. The Court held the trial court abused its discretion in removing her. However, a closer reading of the case reveals that the new sentencing proceeding was not granted based upon this alleged error. The Court, unlike its response to the issues related to the failure to instruct on certain mitigating circumstances and the failure to give a parole ineligibility charge did not include any similar language in its opinion that it "required reversal."¹⁰ The harmless error issue was not addressed or whether it warranted a new trial standing alone.¹¹

¹⁰ The failure to specify that the juror issue "required reversal" is a difference with a distinction. The Court was not required to address the issue concerning prejudice and harmless error concerning the removal. The absence of this language is telling of the limitation in the holding.

¹¹In Stone, the Supreme Court determined that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to apply Woods and removing a juror where that the juror unintentionally failed to disclose information in voir dire. Id. at 448-49, 247-48. However, the Stone court did not reverse the trial court's decision on those grounds, despite finding an "abuse of discretion." Id. While Stone explicitly stated that two of the appellant's claims "required reversal" (Id. at 450, 248 and 451, 249), the court omitted such language from its holding that the juror's removal

The Appellant also relies on State v. Woods, supra. Importantly, in Woods, the Court defined that “intentional concealment occurs when the question presented to the jury on voir dire is reasonably comprehensible to the average juror and the subject of the inquiry is of such significance that the juror's failure to respond is unreasonable. Unintentional concealment, on the other hand, occurs where the question posed is ambiguous or incomprehensible to the average juror, or where the subject of the inquiry is insignificant or so far removed in time that the juror's failure to respond is reasonable under the circumstances. Necessarily, whether a juror's failure to respond is intentional is a fact intensive determination which must be made on a case by case basis.” In Woods, the court found that the juror’s failure to reveal the prior relationship with the solicitor’s office during the opening voir dire was intentional concealment and would have impacted on the use of the peremptory challenges. Here, there is no concealment, intentional or otherwise, of information by a juror on the initial voir dire as determined by Judge Benjamin. Thus, the language from Stone regarding whether the information would have been a material factor in the use of a peremptory challenge is inapplicable to this case.¹²

constituted an "abuse of discretion." Id. at 449, 248.

¹² In State v. Guillebreux, 362 S.C. 270, 607 S.E.2d 99 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004), the Court of Appeals, through Judge, now Justice Beatty, concluded a juror's failure during voir dire to disclose an alleged social relationship with State witness, who was the confidential informant who purchased crack from defendant, was not intentional. The court of appeals found that the juror's knowledge of who was the confidential informant and a rare exchange of greetings with him in her community did not constitute social relationship. The court found that the juror answered questions posed to her honestly, her failure to reveal her knowledge of confidential informant was reasonable response to question posed. In seeking a new trial based upon the juror’s retention and alleged failure to disclosed the unfounded social relationship with the witness, the court concluded that a new trial was not warranted. As the Court stated: “[A]s we find no intentional concealment on Juror's part, we need not further determine whether the information would have been a material factor in the exercise of Guillebeaux's peremptory strikes. [State v.] Sparkman, 358 S.C. at 497, 596 S.E.2d at 377-78. Based on this evidence, we

The Court of Appeals decision in State v. Burgess clarifies Stone's holding that a failure to apply the Woods test constitutes error, but Burgess makes no mention of prejudice, nor any suggestion that such error is per se reversible. State v. Burgess, 391 S.C. 15, 19-20, 703 S.E.2d 512, 514-15 (Ct. App. 2010). Thus, Stone should not be interpreted to permit reversal whenever a trial court improperly removed a juror, if that removal did not prejudice the defendant, particularly as here out of a concern in an abundance of caution concerning future witnesses being identified, as well as the fact that the prosecution may well have used a peremptory challenge.

The facts in this case demonstrate the very flexibility and assurance of impartiality alternate jurors are intended to provide. See State v. Stone, 290 S.C. 380, 382, 350 S.E.2d 517, 518 (1986) (Explaining that the goal of curative measures, such as the use of alternate jurors, is to insure the defendant's right to a fair trial has not been compromised, and the use of such curative measures is at the discretion of the trial court). Though Juror 226 may not have

find the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying the motion for a new trial.”

In Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 654 S.E.2d 523 (2007), the Court cited Guillibreaux addressed whether a juror had intentionally concealed a prior relationship with the defendant. The Court found that the juror did not intentionally conceal the existence of his prior relationship with defendant during voir dire. The defendant claimed after the trial that he learned that they had been incarcerated together prior to defendant's murder trial at the detention center and did not recognize the juror due to a change in his appearance by his head being shaved and that he knew him only by a nickname “Rum Gully.” He claimed without documentation that he had altercations with him in prison. The Court found that the defendant failed to establish that he suffered a per se violation of his due process right to a fair and impartial jury. It concluded that it was reasonable for juror to remain silent when asked during voir dire whether any member of the jury pool was “related by blood or marriage or a close personal friend of [defendant].” The juror testified that he and defendant were not close friends, juror also testified that he did not have any bias or prejudice against defendant, and he and the other members of the jury held the State to its burden of proof before finding defendant guilty of the two murder charges.

intentionally concealed the information, there was more reason to think he was a threat to the trial's fairness and reliability than for the pre-approved alternate who replaced him.¹³ The trial judge expressed this concern that there was a likelihood that future witnesses would cause Juror 226 to again reveal belated recognition from his social contact at the basketball court. Thus, this type of "error" identified by Stone cannot be said to protect the defendant's right to a fair trial. Instead, it must simply protect judicial economy by conserving resources, avoiding delay, and preserving alternates for more severe circumstances. Judicial economy is not the type of competing interest that requires finding reversible error in this case.¹⁴ The trial courts themselves internalize the costs on judicial economy imposed by unnecessary juror removal, and thus, should be allowed to exercise their discretion when determining whether to remove a juror "in abundance of caution," where that juror can be replace with an alternate posing no risk of

¹³ In the instant case, the alternate went through voir dire and approved by both sides (Tr.p. 53). Appellant's brief makes no attempt to demonstrate the manner in which Appellant was prejudiced by the alternate juror. Therefore, Appellant has failed to establish prejudice from the trial court's decision.

¹⁴ Prudential concerns also demand this interpretation. If the decision to remove a juror without finding that the juror's nondisclosure meets the factors laid out in Woods constitutes reversible error, then anytime such a removal occurs without any objection from defense counsel the defendant may well have an ineffective assistance claim in post-conviction relief. While Appellant objected to the juror's removal in the instant case, Appellant's interpretation of Stone would create inadequate representation claims out of less controversial scenarios. Defense counsel may choose not to object for strategic reasons, or simply to avoid undue delay where an alternate was available. In any conceivable post-conviction relief petition arising from such facts, the State would be able to argue that counsel's errors did not deny the defendant a fair trial. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) ("[D]efendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable"). Therefore, there is no reason to even create the claim by recognizing the facts in this case and Stone as reversible error.

prejudice to the defendant.¹⁵ This was not an abuse of discretion by Judge Benjamin.

Respondent further submits any error is harmless where the alternate was present throughout the proceeding and the Appellant had not shown he was prejudiced by the substitution prior to any deliberations. State v. Williams, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996) (defendant was not prejudiced from seating an alternate juror after juror was dismissed).¹⁶ See Ballentine v.

¹⁵ "The general rule in this State is that the conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and [an appellate court] will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way". State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982). Along these lines, the typical appellate standard of review for the discretionary pre-deliberation removal of a juror and replacement with an alternate, is whether or not the trial court's decision was so unreasonable as to be an abuse of discretion resulting in actual prejudice. State v. Rogers, 263 S.C. 373, 210 S.E.2d 604 (1974); State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 52 (1996). In this case, Appellant can show no prejudice from the seating of Alternate, nor can he show that the trial court's decision to excuse Juror 226 was so unreasonable as to amount to an abuse of discretion.

This case is similar to State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 52 (1996). During trial in Williams, a juror spoke to a minister seated at counsel table. The juror testified he had worked with the minister and had heard him preach. The minister was seated at counsel table because he had assisted the defense in contacting witnesses. The trial court excused the juror and replaced him with an alternate to prevent any problems. The Court rejected the defendant's claim that the excusal violated Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), and Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42 (1992), by first noting that the issues were not preserved. However, the Court went on to hold that there was no reversible error, because (1) there is no right to be tried by a jury composed of particular individuals, (2) the alternate juror had been approved by both sides at the inception of trial, and (3) there was no showing of any prejudice from the seating of the alternate juror. Williams, 321 S.C. at 459-60, 469 S.E.2d at 52.

The same result is warranted here as is warranted in Williams. Appellant has no right to be tried by a particular juror, and the alternate juror in this case was approved by both sides. Appellant has identified no sustainable reason why he was prejudiced by the seating of the Alternate.

¹⁶ As the Court stated in Williams,

In any event, in State v. McDaniel, 275 S.C. 222, 268 S.E.2d 585 (1980), this Court held there is no right to be tried by a jury composed of particular individuals. In McDaniel, an alternate was seated after a juror was dismissed for making improper gestures. The

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